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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC12-02000 
CASE NAME: HOSPODKA VS. J. ROCKCLIFF, INC 
SPECIAL SET HEARING ON: MTN FOR AWARD OF ATTY FEES SET BY PLTF 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued on Court’s own motion to October 19, 2017 at 9:00 AM in Dept. 33.  

  

 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01008 
CASE NAME: GONZALEZ VS. BANSAL 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FILED BY SAN RAMON 
SURGERY CENTER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Off-calendar. 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01138 
CASE NAME: HOOSHMAND VS MAHONEY 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FILED BY DAVID MAHONEY, 
ELOISA MAHONEY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

 Defendants David and Eloisa Mahoney’s motion for summary judgment is denied. 

Defendants’ motion to summary adjudication is granted as to causes of action 1 through 4 and 

punitive damages and denied as to causes of action 5 and 6.  

Discovery Matters 

Plaintiff Mark Hooshmand has opposed this motion because of Defendants’ failure to 

turn over photographs and videos when requested by Plaintiff. The Court will not deny 

Defendants’ motion based on this failure. However, the Court continued the hearing on this 

motion to allow Plaintiff time to include certain photographs and a video in his opposition. The 

Court has reviewed the supplemental opposition from Plaintiff, which includes a video and some 

new photographs.  

Procedural Matters 

Plaintiff asks that this motion be denied because Defendants have not specifically stated 

the reason for each summary adjudication in their separate statement and notice of motion in 

violation of California Rule of Court, Rule 3.1350(b). The Court finds that Defendants have 
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stated its reasons with sufficiently specificity and to the extent they have not any error is 

harmless as Defendants’ memorandum makes clear the reasons for their motion to summary 

adjudication.  

The Court also notes that Plaintiff’s response to Defendants’ separate statement violates 

the California Rule of Court, Rule 3.1350(f), (h) and 3.1354. Plaintiff’s response does not cite to 

evidence every time that he disputes one of Defendants’ facts. Despite this error, the Court has 

done its best to ascertain the matters that Plaintiff disputes along with his supporting evidence. 

Plaintiff’s response also makes evidentiary objections that are not identified by number and 

linked to a separate document that includes all objections to evidence. Plaintiff also submitted a 

separate objections to evidence document containing two objections and the Court will rule on 

those objections.  

Defendants have objected to Plaintiff’s supplemental opposition. Defendants’ objection 

and opposition have some merit, however, striking the supplemental opposition is too harsh a 

remedy and that request by Defendants is denied. Defendants’ request for a supplemental reply 

is denied. The Court does not need additional briefing from the parties on this motion. There are 

some matters that are denied based on the failure to shift the burden in Defendants’ moving 

papers and on these matters a further reply would not be useful. As to other matters, the Court 

finds that the papers previously submitted by Defendants are sufficient to respond to the new 

arguments and evidence submitted in Plaintiff’s supplemental opposition.  

Finally, the Court notes that there are a number of issues which were first raised in the 

original reply by Defendants and if they were raised in the moving papers it was done without 

proper citations to legal authorities and/or evidence. The point of a reply is to respond to the 

opposition papers. It is not to raise new issues that were not properly briefed in the moving 

papers. (See, e.g. Balboa Ins. Co. v. Aguirre (1983) 149 Cal.App.3d 1002, 1010 (stating in the 

appellate context that “points raised in a reply brief for the first time will not be considered unless 

good cause is shown for the failure to present them before.”).) 

Legal Standard 

A defendant meets its burden on a motion for summary judgment by showing either that 

plaintiff’s claims have no merit or that there is a complete defense to the claims. (Code of Civil 

Procedure § 437c(p)(2).) A defendant can show this by showing that the plaintiff does not 

possess, and cannot reasonably obtain, evidence necessary to an element of the claim (such as 

through factually devoid discovery responses) or by providing admissible evidence that negates 

a plaintiff’s claim. (Brantley v. Pisaro (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 1591, 1595-97; see also Aguilar v. 

Atlantic Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 854.)  

Once a defendant has met its burden, the motion will be granted unless the plaintiff can 

show at least one triable issue of material fact. (Brantley, supra, 42 Cal.App.4th at p. 1594; 

Aguilar, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p.843.) “In ruling on the motion, the court must consider all of the 

evidence and all of the inferences reasonably drawn therefrom, and must view such evidence 
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and such inferences, in the light most favorable to the opposing party.” (Aguilar, supra, 25 

Cal.4th at p. 843 (internal citations and quotations omitted); see also, Code of Civ. Proc. § 

437c(c).) 

Defendants have sought summary judgment as well as summary adjudication on each of 

Plaintiff’s claims and also on punitive damages.  

Encroachment (C/A 1) 

Defendants argue that Plaintiff cannot show encroachment because that requires an 

interference on another’s land and here the only interference is on Defendants’ land. Thus, 

Defendants argue that Plaintiff has not experienced encroachment on his land. The only legal 

citation provided by Defendants for this rule is Black’s Law Dictionary.  On this issue, 

Defendants are incorrect. In Dunsmuir v. Silva (1957) 154 Cal.App.2d 825 the court affirmed a 

trial court’s ruling that the appellant’s garage was encroaching on the respondent’s easement. 

There, the appellants did not challenge the finding that the garage encroached on the 

easement, but instead challenged the trial court’s order that enjoined appellants from 

maintaining any building, obstruction or impediment to traffic along the easement. (Id. at 826.) 

Pacific Gas & Electric Co. v. Minnette (1953) 115 Cal.App.2d 698 also involved an easement 

holders claim for encroachment. However, it is also apparent from these cases that an 

encroachment involves some intrusion in the easement area.  

Defendants have also argued that the alleged encroachment activities (trip hazard on 

steps/path, large boulder and plants) are not in the private access easement area but outside 

the easement and entirely on Defendants’ property. Although Defendants did not cite legal 

authority for this argument, it is apparent to this Court that a claim for encroachment (or 

trespass) must involve something on the plaintiff’s property or in the easement area. 

Defendants’ survey shows that all these items are outside of the easement area and on 

Defendants’ land. (Humann Decl. 6-7 & Ex. A.) Therefore, Defendants have shifted the burden. 

Plaintiff has not offered a survey in opposition that shows Defendants’ survey is incorrect. 

Instead, Plaintiff appears to rely on his adverse possession claim for the path and driveway 

area. As explained below, that claim fails.  

Therefore summary adjudication as to this claim is granted.   

Injunctive Relief (C/A 2) 

Defendants argue that the claim for injunctive relief is just a remedy and not a cause of 

action. (Shell Oil v. Richter (1942) 52 Cal.app.2d 164, 168) Defendants are correct, but if 

Plaintiff had a surviving claim that supports injunctive relief then the Court would give Plaintiff 

leave to amend this claim. It does not appear to the Court that Plaintiff has a claim that would 

support injunctive relief and therefore the motion for summary adjudication is granted without 

leave to amend.  

Trespass (C/A 3) 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   33 
HEARING DATE:   09/21/17 

 
 

- 4 - 

 Defendants argue that the claim for trespass is the same as the claim for encroachment 

and for the same reasons  the Court agrees. Therefore, the motion for summary adjudication of 

this claim is also granted.  

Quiet Title / Prescriptive Easement (C/A 4) 

 This claim is based on Plaintiff’s allegation that he has title to the driveway, retaining 

wall, steps (or pathway) next to the retaining wall and area next to the steps based upon 

adverse possession and prescriptive easement. (SAC ¶¶ 54-57 & 65.) As alleged, Plaintiff is 

asking that the property lines be corrected so that the areas mentioned in cause of action four 

are entirely on Plaintiff’s property with no easement to Defendants or alternatively that that 

Plaintiff has acquired exclusive title to the full use of these areas. (SAC ¶¶ 54-57.) 

A claim for adverse possession has the following elements: “(1) Possession must be by 

actual occupation under such circumstances as to constitute reasonable notice to the owner. (2) 

It must be hostile to the owner's title. (3) The holder must claim the property as his own, under 

either color of title or claim of right. (4) Possession must be continuous and uninterrupted for five 

years. (5) The holder must pay all the taxes levied and assessed upon the property during the 

period. [Citation.]” (Dimmick v. Dimmick (1962) 58 Cal. 2d 417, 421.) 

Defendants argue that Plaintiff has not paid the taxes on the property and that Plaintiff’s 

use was not hostile to Defendants’ ownership because it was done pursuant to the private 

access easement. On the issue of who paid the taxes, Defendants rely on the declaration of 

Eloisa Mahoney to show that they paid the taxes. (Mahoney Decl. ¶¶ 7-8, Ex. A.) Defendants 

also rely on Plaintiff’s deposition testimony where he stated that he did not know if he paid taxes 

on the easement. (Plaintiff’s Ex. D 210:4-8.) This evidence is sufficient to shift the burden by 

showing that Defendants paid the taxes on the disputed area. In opposition, Plaintiff states that 

he believed he paid the taxes for improvements in the easement area. (Plaintiff Decl. ¶ 34.) This 

evidence is insufficient to shift the burden. Therefore, Plaintiff has failed to show that he has 

evidence that he paid the taxes in the easement area and thus Plaintiff cannot prove an adverse 

possession claim.  

A claim for prescriptive easement does not require the payment of taxes, but it still 

requires use of land that is open and notorious and hostile to the true owners for at least five 

years. (Kapner v. Meadowlark Ranch Assn. (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 1182, 1186.) However, a 

claim for prescriptive easement that amounts to possessory right over part of a neighboring 

parcel is not a proper claim for a prescriptive easement. (Ibid.; see also Harrison v. Welch 

(2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 1084, 1093-1094.) Here, Plaintiff’s requested easement is essentially 

another way to request adverse possession and therefore the prescriptive easement claim adds 

nothing.  

Therefore, the motion for summary adjudication as to this cause of action is granted.   

Negligence (C/A 5) 
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 Defendants argue that Plaintiff’s claim for negligence is not based on allegations that 

support a cause of action for negligence. Here Defendants cite to CACI No. 400 for the 

elements of negligence, which include a requirement that the plaintiff was harmed by the 

defendant’s conduct. Defendants argue that Plaintiff has not been harmed.  

Plaintiff argues that he has been harmed. Plaintiff cites to paragraphs 17 and 18 of his 

declaration which states that he was bothered by the “excessive noise” and that a boulder was 

placed near the pathway and now prevents Plaintiff from rolling larger objects to the backyard. 

Since the only issue raised in the moving papers was harm, Plaintiff has presented evidence on 

that issue. Therefore, summary adjudication on this claim is denied.  

Defendants’ moving papers did not include an argument that the negligence claim fails 

because of a lack of duty. Since this argument was not included in the moving papers the 

Court’s ruling on this motion does not address that issue.   

Private Nuisance (C/A 6) 

 A “ ‘ “private nuisance is a civil wrong based on disturbance of rights in land. … [T]o 

proceed on a private nuisance theory the plaintiff must prove an injury specifically referable to 

the use and enjoyment of his or her land. The injury, however, need not be different in kind from 

that suffered by the general public.” ’ [Citation.]” (Mendez v. Rancho Valencia Resort Partners, 

LLC (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 248, 262.) “ ‘So long as the interference is substantial and 

unreasonable, and such as would be offensive or inconvenient to the normal person, virtually 

any disturbance of the enjoyment of the property may amount to a nuisance.’ ” (Ibid.) 

Both substantial and unreasonable interference are judge by an objective standard. 

(Mendez, supra, 3 Cal.App.5th at 263.) “[W]ith respect to the substantial damage element, the 

degree of harm is to be measured by the ‘effect … the invasion [would] have on persons of 

normal health and sensibilities living in the same community.’ [Citation.] … With respect to the 

unreasonableness element, ‘[t]he primary test for determining whether the invasion is 

unreasonable is whether the gravity of the harm outweighs the social utility of the defendant's 

conduct, taking a number of factors into account.’ ” (Ibid.)  

Defendants have not shifted the burden on the issue of a substantial interference. Eloisa 

Mahoney states in her declaration that the landscaping work initially started at 7am on the 

weekends, but soon after the project started, she asked the landscapers to be quiet until 8:30 

a.m. (Mahoney Decl. ¶¶12-14.) She also states that the landscapers complied with this request. 

(Mahoney Decl. ¶14.) Defendants have not, however, provide evidence as to the length of work 

or the amount of noise that occurred after 8:30 a.m. Without additional information, the Court 

cannot find that Defendants’ evidence shows that Plaintiff cannot state a claim. 

Even if Defendants had shifted the burden on the issue of noise, Plaintiff has shown 

there is a triable issue of material fact. In his declaration, he states that the landscapers use 

loud machinery, including a small bulldozer and machines to cut stone. (Hooshmand Decl. ¶38.) 

He also states that the noise was excruciatingly loud outside the home and still very loud inside 
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the house. (Hooshmand Decl. ¶38.) These are sufficient facts to show there is a triable issue of 

material fact.  

Defendants have also not shifted the burden on the issue of a unreasonable 

interference. Eloisa Mahoney explains that they wanted to re-do the landscaping in their yard to 

make it more drought-tolerant. (Mahoney Decl. ¶10.) Certainly, installing more drought-friendly 

plants has social utility, but Defendants have not shown what Plaintiff’s harm was and therefore 

they have not shown that the public utility outweighs Plaintiff’s harm.  

Therefore, the motion for summary adjudication as to this cause of action fails.  

Punitive Damages 

Defendants argue that punitive damages are not appropriate in this case. The claim for 

punitive damages is based on the private nuisance claim. (SAC ¶82 and prayer for relief.) The 

nuisance claim states that punitive damages are warranted because “Defendants acted with 

malice and oppression and fraud knowing that Plaintiff utilized the area in question and 

specifically acting to deny Plaintiff the right to use that area.” (SAC ¶82.) Elsewhere in the 

nuisance claim, Plaintiff includes allegations that Defendants installed a trip hazard, put loose 

gravel on the steps and placed a larger boulder and other plants in the area. (SAC ¶73.)  

Defendants have shown that each of these items does not support a claim for punitive 

damages. The “trip hazard” is a small wood strip that runs along the left edge of the steps and is 

salmon in color. (Mahoney Decl. ¶9; Defendants’ Ex. J.) Defendants claim the strip is one inch 

high while Plaintiff claims the strip is two inches high. (Mahoney Decl. ¶9; Hooshmand Decl. 

¶37.) Plaintiff also claims that the strip is plastic not wood. (Hooshmand Decl. ¶37.) Regardless 

of these minor disputes, the installation of the strip does not support a awarding punitive 

damages. As to the loose gravel, assuming that Defendants put some loose gravel on the steps 

is insufficient evidence to show fraud, oppression or malice. Similarly, installing the large 

boulder and plants do not show fraud, oppression or malice.  

In opposition, Plaintiff focuses on the Defendants’ excessive noise and that Defendants’ 

continued to make noise despite knowing that Plaintiff was being harmed by it. Plaintiff’s 

evidence shows that Defendants continued to do their landscaping work despite Plaintiff 

complaining about the noise. (Hooshmand Decl. ¶¶18-20 an Ex. F and H.) However, this 

evidence does not show fraud, oppression or malice.  

Therefore, summary adjudication as to punitive damages is granted because Defendants 

have shifted the burden and Plaintiff has not shown there is a triable issue of material fact.   

Evidentiary Matters 

Plaintiff’s objection to paragraph 7 of Eloisa Mahoney’s declaration is overruled.  

Plaintiff’s objection to exhibit A to the Werner declaration is overruled.  
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Plaintiff’s request for judicial notice of his Second Amended Complaint in this case is 

granted.  

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01451 
CASE NAME: ARMSTRONG VS. DALY 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR COMPEL FURTHER RESPONSES TO INSPECTION 
DEMAND FOR, FILED BY NYNA ARMSTRONG 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. The parties will be given a room to meaningfully meet and confer on all of the requests 
that are the subject of this motion. 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00754 
CASE NAME: SILVA VS HICKEY 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE 
SUMMARY ADJUDICATIO FILED BY MERCEDES HICKEY, MICHAEL J HICKEY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

 Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment, or, in the alternative, Summary 

Adjudication, is denied.  Defendants have failed to meet their initial burden on this motion to 

show that either cause of action in the complaint has no merit.  (CCP § 437c (f)(1).) 

 
1. Summary judgment and summary adjudication are denied. 
 
A motion for summary judgment shall be granted “if all the papers submitted show that 

there is no triable issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a 
judgment as a matter of law.”  (CCP § 437c (f)(1).) 

 
The moving party on a motion for summary judgment “bears an initial burden of 

production to make a prima facie showing of the nonexistence of any triable issue of material 
fact.”  (Aguilar v. Atlantic Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 850.)   

 
 Only if defendant has met his initial burden does the plaintiff have to come forward with 

evidence showing the existence of a triable issue of material fact.  (Binder v. Aetna Life Ins. Co. 
(1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 832, 840; see Johnson v. Superior Court (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 297, 
304.) 
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A party may also move for summary adjudication “as to one or more causes of action . . . 

or one or more issues of duty, if the party contends that the cause of action has no merit  . . . or 
that one or more defendants either owed or did not owe a duty to the plaintiff or plaintiffs. A 
motion for summary adjudication shall be granted only if it completely disposes of a cause of 
action, an affirmative defense, a claim for damages, or an issue of duty.”  (CCP § 37c (f)(1).) 

 
A motion for summary judgment must contain a Separate Statement of Undisputed 

Material Facts that separate identifies “Each cause of action [or] issue of duty . . .  that is the 
subject of the motion.”  (CRC 3.1350 (d).) 

 
The scope of the defendant’s initial burden is defined by the pleadings.  (See 580 

Folsom Assocs. v. Prometheus Dev. Co. (1990) 223 Cal. App. 3d 1, 18.) 
 
Here, plaintiff’s complaint alleges two causes of action:  (1) general negligence; and (2) 

premises liability.  In pertinent part, the negligence cause of action alleges that defendants 
“negligently owned, operated . . . and/or maintained their premises, including but not limited to 
negligently hiring an unlicensed and uninsured painting contractor, Romero . . . .  Because 
Romero was an unlicensed contractor, he and Plaintiff were the employees of Defendants . . . 
as a matter of law. . . . Defendants . . . failed to ensure the safety of the workplace . . . [failed to 
ensure] the use of fall prevention devices . . . failed to implement an injury and illness prevention 
program . . . and [a]s a legal result, Plaintiff slipped and fell [from a roof.]”  In pertinent part, the 
premises liability cause of action alleges that the roof “was slippery and Plaintiff was provided no 
fall protection devices or assistance.”  (Ex. A.)   

 
The evidence that defendants present in support of the Separate Statement consists of 

excerpts of the depositions of plaintiff; his co-worker, Romero; and the two defendants.  
Defendants have not submitted any declarations to supplement their deposition testimony. 

 
In an attempt to meet their initial burden, defendants submit a Separate Statement that 

makes the following key points, relying on this evidence.  The day before the incident, plaintiff 
worked for an hour and a half preparing the shutters to be painted.  (UMF 13.)   Juan Romero, 
whom defendant Mercedes asked to do the job and who enlisted plaintiff to assist, helped 
plaintiff get on the roof, but was never on the roof himself.  (UMF 14.)  The Separate Statement 
does not address whether a competent painting contractor would have gone onto the roof or 
provided safety equipment.   

 
During the prep work, plaintiff had no concerns about falling and did not use any safety 

harness.  (UMF 15.) 
 
On the day of the incident, plaintiff got onto the roof in the same manner as he had the 

day before.  (UMF 16.)  He slipped and fell when he was moving from the left shutter to the 
right.  (UMF 18.)  His foot slipped. (UMF 18, 19.)  The roof was wet from morning dew, but he 
did not notice that it was wet until his foot slipped.  (UMF 45.)  The roof had not been wet the 
day before.  Plaintiff did the work the day before in the afternoon, but on the date of the incident 
in the morning.  (Ex. B to Vucinich Decl, Silva Depo. at 50:19-25.)  Except for his testimony 
about the roof being wet, plaintiff did not think there was anything unusual about the roof he was 
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on.  (Disputed Material Fact No. 22 and supporting evidence.)  Before the accident he did not 
believe he needed fall protection.  (UMF 21 and supporting evidence.) 

 
Defendants did not tell plaintiff or Romero how to do the work or supply any materials or 

tools.  (UMF 24.)  Neither of them were home at the time of the incident.  (UMF 26.)   
 

Neither the Separate Statement nor the supporting evidence are sufficient to meet 
defendants’ initial burden to show that plaintiff cannot establish an element of either cause of 
action.   

 
Defendants argue that the safe work place requirements placed on employers pursuant 

to the California Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1973, Lab. Code, § 6300 et. seq. (“Cal-
OSHA” of the “Act”) do not apply to them because they only “employed” plaintiff and his co-
worker, Romero, to provide “domestic household service,” which is expressly excluded from the 
definition of “employment” under the Act.  (Lab. C. § 6303 (a.).)  For the reasons explained 
below, the court agrees. However, neither defendants’ Separate Statement nor their discussion 
of the law address other plaintiff’s theories of liability, including the reasonable construction of 
the allegations in the complaint that defendants are guilty of direct negligence for hiring an 
incompetent contractor, or are guilty of vicarious liability based upon the actions of their 
statutory employee, Romero, under respondeat superior.  Also, when faced with these 
arguments in the Opposition, defendants filed a Reply Brief that ignores them. 

 
A ruling that Cal-OSHA’s workplace safety rules do not apply to an employer because of 

the household domestic service exclusion does not end a case.  It merely means that 
negligence may not be proved through use of those rules.  (Rosas v. Dishong (1998) 67 
Cal.App.4th 815, 827.)  Defendants must still meet their initial burden regarding the other 
alleged bases for negligence, including that the hiring of a competent contractor would have 
avoided the accident and that no negligence of Romero attributable to defendants was a 
substantial factor in causing the accident. Defendants must also meet their initial burden to 
establish that there was no dangerous condition on their property or that they did not know or 
have reason to know before the incident of any dangerous condition of their property that 
contributed to the incident. 

 
Conspicuously absent from their Separate Statement and evidence is any assertion that 

defendants did not know Romero was an incompetent contractor, any significant evidence that 
he was a competent contractor, or any evidence that defendants were unaware of any 
dangerous conditions that may have contributed to the accident.   That defendants were not 
present at the time of the incident does not establish they were unaware of roof wetness before 
the incident, or on prior occasions, that could present a hazard to workers.  The court is 
unwilling to rule that the wetness on the roof could not constitute a dangerous condition as a 
matter of law in the absence of any further lay or expert evidence about the character of the 
wetness, how it affected the slipperiness of the roof, or how it may have caused or contributed 
to the accident.  That neither side has presented such evidence does not favor defendants, 
because they have the initial burden to do so and until they meet their initial burden plaintiff has 
no burden to do so. 

 
Defendants cite Vebr v. Culp (2015) 241 Cal.App.4th 1044.  The court finds that case to 
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be distinguishable.  The opinion in Vebr does not state what testimony the court had before it 
from defendants, if any, in ruling on the motion.  However, it states that the motion was based 
on the grounds that there were “no facts to show [defendants] were liable for [plaintiff’s] injuries” 
and that plaintiff testified that he “did not believe there was anything wrong with the ladder that 
caused him to fall.”  (Vebr, supra, 241 Cal.App.4th at 1049.)  Here, the ground for the motion is 
that defendants did not cause the incident and there was no substantial defect on the premises.  
(Notice of Motion at 2:1-2.)  In addition, the reasonable inference from plaintiff’s papers is that 
he thought he slipped because there the roof was unexpectedly wet.  Further, plaintiff argues 
that the accident would not have occurred if defendants had not hired an incompetent 
contractor, Romero; or if Romero had provided appropriate equipment or given appropriate 
instructions.  Defendants did not meet their initial burden on these issues. 

 
Because plaintiff may be able to prevail even if Cal-OSHA’s work place safety rules do 

not apply to defendants and because defendants have failed to meet their initial burden to refute 
other theories of liability, the court must deny the motion.   

 
2. Plaintiff may not base his case on defendants’ alleged violation of Cal-OSHA 

work place safety statutes, regulations, or rules. 
 
Under Labor Code section 2750.5, an unlicensed contractor is considered the employee 

of his hirer.  Under Labor Code section 3602 (a) if such an unlicensed contractor is injured, he 
generally may not file a lawsuit against the hirer because worker's compensation is his only 
remedy.  However, he is not entitled to recover worker's compensation if he worked less than 52 
hours for the hirer over the last 90 calendar days.  (Lab. C. § 3352 (h).)  In that event, he is not 
considered an employee for purposes of receiving worker's compensation but he is considered 
an employee for purposes of Labor Code section 2750.5.  If all of those circumstances apply to 
him, he may sue the hirer in tort, but must prove negligence, whereas worker's compensation 
benefits are recoverable without regard to negligence.  (Vebr v. Culp (2015) 241 Cal.App.4th 
1044; see Lab. C. § 3600 (a).)  This is the case that plaintiff is bringing.   

 
To prove fault in such cases the plaintiff will often try to show that the hirer violated a 

safety law imposed on employer under Cal-OSHA.  (See, e.g., Cortez v. Abich (2011) 51 Cal.4th 
285.)  Such laws govern employment except as to household domestic service.  (Lab. C. § 6303 
(b).)  The central issue in this case is thus whether defendants employed plaintiff to provide 
household domestic service.   

 
The term “household domestic service” is not defined in the Act.  The term was 

construed in Rosas v. Dishong (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 815.  There, a worker brought suit against 
the homeowner for whom he provided yard work and who had asked him to trim a tree branch.  
The worker did not have the license required for tree trimming.  The court ruled that the trial 
court erred in finding defendants subject to Cal-OSHA's safety provisions. The court concluded 
that private residential yard work, including tree trimming, falls within the “household domestic 
service” exclusion.   

 
The court relied on 8 CCR § 11150 (I), which is a Wage Order.  That Wage Order 

defines “Household Occupations” as “all service related to the . . . maintenance of a private 
household or its premises by an employee of a private householder. Said occupations shall 
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include, but not be limited to, the following: butlers, chauffeurs, companions, cooks, day 
workers, gardeners, graduate nurses, grooms, house cleaners, housekeepers, maids, practical 
nurses, tutors, valets, and other similar occupations.”  (Emphasis added.)  

 
The court explained, “California, as well as much of the nation, has historically 

emphasized business, industry and trade in defining OSHA coverage, while at the same time 
excluding coverage for household domestic service. It is unlikely average homeowners expect 
that OSHA requirements would apply when they hire someone to trim a tree for their own 
personal benefit and not for a commercial purpose. Tree trimming is a task often performed by 
members of a household. Moreover, homeowners are ill-equipped to understand or to comply 
with the specialized requirements of OSHA. We conclude the Legislature intended to exclude 
private residence yard maintenance work, including tree trimming, from OSHA coverage under 
the ‘household domestic service’ exclusion.”  (Rosas, supra, 67 Cal.App.4th at 826.)   

 
The court concluded by saying, “The fact that the exclusion [from Cal-OSHA] applies, 

however, does not mean homeowners are shielded from liability for injuries their negligence 
might cause. It simply means that failure to comply with the provisions of OSHA will not result in 
presumptive negligence and the deprivation of affirmative defenses.”  (Id. at 827.) 

 
The same considerations apply here and are buttressed by another.  It is unlikely that 

defendants expected that OSHA requirements would apply when they hired plaintiff to paint a 
limited portion of their house for their own personal benefit and not for a commercial purpose.  
Painting is a task often performed by members of a household.  No facts are before the court to 
indicate that the painting being performed here was so extensive, difficult, or technical that 
members of a household would not ordinarily have undertaken it.  Defendants here would be 
expected to be as ill-equipped as the defendants in Rosas to understand or comply with the 
extensive and technical requirements of Cal-OSHA, such as setting up an injury prevention 
program or procuring and providing fall prevention devices.  In addition, the court doubts that the 
Legislature intended to broadly create a situation where employment would be considered too 
minimal and casual (less than 52 hours in 90 days) to warrant requiring a homeowner to take 
the simple step of purchasing worker’s compensation insurance, yet, at the same time, 
sufficiently extensive to require the homeowner to comply with numerous, detailed Occupational 
Safety and Health regulations as though the homeowner were a full-time commercial employer.  
While the court recognizes that the exception from the requirement of providing workers’ 
compensation under Labor Code section 3352 (h) is based on the number of hours worked, and 
the exception to the applicability of Cal-OSHA under Labor Code section 6303 (b) is based on 
the type of employment, the disparity between relieving the statutory employer of responsibilities 
in the one case and imposing them in the other is also a factor the court has considered. 

 
Plaintiff argues that the domestic household service exclusion does not apply because it 

does not apply to painters.  He cites Cortez v. Abich (2011) 51 Cal.4th 285, which did not apply 
that exclusion to a worker injured while assisting in an extensive remodel of a house.  The 
worker was injured when a portion of the roof collapsed underneath him. 

 
The court is unpersuaded.  While the shorthand label used in the Wage Order relied on 

in Rosas “household occupations” as well as the one used in Labor Code section 6303 (b) itself, 
“household domestic service” conjures up images of cooks, maids and caretakers, the Wage 
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Order states that “household occupations” includes “maintenance of a private household or its 
premises.”  It then goes on to enumerate a long list of occupations, “including but not limited to . 
. . day workers . . . gardeners . . . house keepers . . . and other similar occupations.”  As the 
Rosas court noted, there is little if any significance to the fact that the specific jobs listed do not 
ordinarily require a license whereas painting does.  “Work for which a license is required is not 
necessarily more dangerous than other tasks for which no license is required. The work 
performed by plumbers, painters and carpet installers, all work requiring a license . . . cannot be 
said to be more dangerous and in need of safety protection than wood chopping, a task 
requiring no license.” 

 
While in footnote 3, the court in Cortez placed handymen in one category and painters in 

another, its holding was not that painting never constitutes household domestic service.  It was 
that the household domestic service exclusion does not apply to “work rendered on a residential 
remodeling project in which significant portions of a house are demolished and rebuilt, and new 
rooms are added.”  Cortez cited Rosas.  It did not disapprove it.  Further, Cortez’ holding did not 
require the court there to make any categorical statement whether painting ever qualifies as 
domestic household service.  Cortez was very clear that its holding was on a “narrow” issue.  
(Cortez, supra, 51 Cal.4th at 289 (“The narrow question before us is this:  Does work rendered 
on a residential remodeling project in which significant portions of a house are demolished and 
rebuilt, and new rooms are added, fall within the statutory ‘household domestic service’ 
provision for employment excluded under the Act? Based on the plain meaning of the statutory 
language, we conclude the answer is no.”) 

 
In addition, Cortez mentioned that “household domestic service” includes work both 

inside and outside of a home, refers to “a broad category of workers,” and “implies duties that 
are personal to the homeowner, not those which relate to a commercial or business activity on 
the homeowner's part.”  Cortez cited a prior California Supreme Court case, Fernandez, which 
said that “overwhelming public policy and practical considerations make it unlikely the 
Legislature intended Cal-OSHA's complex regulatory scheme to apply to a homeowner hiring a 
tree trimmer for a personal, noncommercial purpose.”  (Fernandez v. Lawson (2003) 31 Cal.4th 
31, 37 (internal quotations omitted).)  The same can be said about a homeowner hiring a painter 
to do ordinary, limited, exterior painting for a noncommercial purpose. 

 
The critical distinction between Cortez and Rosas is that that work on the roof in Cortez 

was being done in connection with construction work – the extensive remodeling of a house – 
and the work done on the roof here was done in connection with simple maintenance of a 
house.  It is not based on whether the particular activity the plaintiff was engaged in at the time 
of his injury was stepping on a roof, painting, driving a nail, gardening or tree trimming.  (See 
Cortez, supra, 51 Cal.4th at 298 (“Finally, defendants contend that for home improvement 
projects, the question whether an employee's work falls within the household domestic service 
exemption should turn on the nature of his or her work duties taken in isolation, regardless 
whether those duties were part and parcel of a larger remodeling project. We disagree.”) 

 
Cortez reached the conclusion it did in consideration of the fact that “the worksite 

conditions associated with residential demolition, construction, and large-scale   improvements 
can be ongoing for months, and are often vastly more hazardous than the conditions typically 
associated with regular household maintenance.”  (Cortez, supra, 51 Cal.4th at 295 (emphasis 
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added).)  The large scope of the project involved in Cortez was clearly important to the court 
there, as the court made clear by repeated use of adjectives describing the project as such.  (Id. 
at 291, 294, 296, 298 (“extensive” remodeling project); 295, 296 (“large-scale”), 298 
(“remodeling project calling for the demolition and rebuilding of significant portions of a house 
and the construction of new rooms”).  Footnote 4 of the court’s opinion indicates that even some 
remodeling projects might not fall outside the term “household domestic service,” let alone 
small, isolated painting projects. That footnote states, “Thus, whether a home remodeling 
project extends beyond mere household maintenance will generally depend on the totality of the 
circumstances, including but not limited to, the scope of the project and the extent to which it 
involves significant demolition and construction work, the labor and skills required for the 
project, the need for building and/or other construction permits, and the extent to which those 
hired for the project are subject to state licensing requirements.” 

 
In the context of the narrowness of Cortez’ holding and all the other things the court said 

to show it was more concerned about the nature of the project than the title of the worker, the 
court’s reference in footnote 3 to regulations putting painters and handymen in separate 
categories carries little significance. What constitutes “household domestic service” ordinarily 
depends more on what is being done than on who is doing it. 

 
Plaintiff attempts to avoid the concluding comments quoted above from Rosas about 

using a statutory violation as presumptive evidence of negligence, by arguing he is not 
attempting to use Cal-OSHA regulations solely to invoke a presumption of negligence under 
Evidence Code section 669.  He says he is also attempting to use them to help define what 
constitutes a breach of the ordinary standard of care under the circumstances.  (Cite Opp.) 

 
In this case, the court sees that as a distinction without a difference.  Under the court’s 

analysis, plaintiff is not entitled to the benefit of the Cal-OSHA laws or regulations for any 
purpose in this case.  Because his “employment” falls within the domestic household service 
exclusion, the regulations that under Cal-OSHA might apply to a statutory employer in another 
case do not apply to defendants.  Defendants’ failure to take safety precautions not applicable to 
them cannot be used to prove they breached an ordinary duty of care. 
 

Rulings on Evidentiary Objections 
 
Defendant’s Objections filed 9/15/17 
 
1 – Sustained as to the following words only, otherwise overruled:  “Since she works in 

the field of construction and real estate, she knows if she hires someone like Gustavo and 
myself, that she’ll save money.”  Also sustained as to what Gustavo told Ms. Hickey. 
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 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00754 
CASE NAME: SILVA VS HICKEY 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01045 
CASE NAME: DEBENEDETTI VS DEBENEDETTI 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR BREACH OF PROMISSORY 
NOTE FILED BY MATTHEW DEBENDETTI, MICHAEL RILEY DEBENEDETTI 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Appear. 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01045 
CASE NAME: DEBENEDETTI VS DEBENEDETTI 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

  

 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01418 
CASE NAME: CRANE VS MANGIARACINA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR COMPEL PLAINTIFF TO COMPL W/ INSPECTION 
DEMAND FILED BY CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Dropped per fax of moving party. 
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10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02428 
CASE NAME: SENAVSKY VS. BOAMAN 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended CROSS COMPLAINT of BOAMAN 
FILED BY JOAN SENAVSKY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a demurrer (the “Demurrer”) filed by cross-defendant Joan Senavsky, 
individually and as trustee of the Val G. Senavsky and Joan E. Senavsky Trust (“Joan”). 
(Because many of the relevant individuals involved in this case share the surname Senavsky or 
Hobbs, the Court refers to certain people by their given names; no disrespect is intended.)  

The Demurrer is directed to the sixth cause of action in the first amended cross-complaint 
(“1AXC”), filed by defendants and cross-complainants William Boaman and Jeff Boaman, both 
of them individually and doing business as Walnut Creek Automotive (collectively, “Boamans”). 
The sixth cause of action purports to state a claim for financial elder abuse, and the Boamans 
oppose the Demurrer. 

Financial Elder Abuse is a statutory cause of action. The relevant statute requires only that the 
defendant take, secret, appropriate, obtain, or retain real or personal property of an elder, and 
that such taking be done either for a wrongful use or with intent to defraud. Welf. & Inst. Code § 
15610.30(a)(1-3). A taking is “for a wrongful use” if the taker “knew or should have known” that 
the taking would be “harmful to the elder.” Welf. & Inst. Code § 15610.30(b). Finally, the statute 
says that a taking has occurred if “an elder or dependent adult is deprived of any property right.” 
Welf. & Inst. Code § 15610.30(c). 

In essence, Joan makes two arguments in support of the Demurrer. The Court addresses them 
both below. 

First, Joan observes that the Elder Abuse statute was enacted to protect elders from, among 
other things, fraudulent schemes. She points the Court to the legislative history of the statute. 
From that observation, Joan seems to argue that Financial Elder Abuse can only be alleged in 
cases involving undue influence or fraud, and certainly not in a case that involves an arms-
length business transaction. In the first instance, on its face, the statute provides no such 
limitation.  

In her reply papers, Joan argues that the legislative history of the Elder Abuse statute compels 
the conclusion that it does not apply to arms-length business transactions. But Joan identifies no 
case (either in the Demurrer or her reply) where a court has imposed the sort of restriction she 
urges, and she does not identify any language in the statute that would provide the limitation 
she advances. 

Indeed, the few cases the Court’s research has uncovered indicate that there is no such 
limitation. See, e.g., Wood v. Santa Monica Escrow Co. (2007) 151 Cal.App.4th 1186; Bonfigli v. 
Strachan (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 1302, 1316; Paslay v. State Farm Gen. Ins. Co. (2016) 248 
Cal.App.4th 639. 

Paslay says, explicitly, “a party may engage in elder abuse by misappropriating funds to which 
an elder is entitled under a contract.” Id. at p. 656. 

In Bonfigli, the Court of Appeal said that plaintiff had made out a “skeletal” case of financial elder 
abuse when it was alleged that defendant overstepped the authority granted it under a power of 
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attorney. The facts described in Bonfigli do not appear to the Court to be any sort of enhanced 
bad conduct on the part of those defendants; rather, Bonfigli appears to arise from an arms-
length business transaction. 

Finally, the Court notes that the elder abuse statute is a remedial statute. A remedial statute is 
to be “liberally construed on behalf of the class of persons it is designed to protect.” California 
Assn. of Health Facilities v. Dept. of Health Services (1997) 16 Cal.4th 284, 295. 

The alleged facts in the 1AXC (which the Court accepts as true for purposes of ruling on the 
Demurrer) are different from the facts in Bonfigli in their particulars, but are quite similar in their 
general character. That is, the 1AXC alleges a dispute arising from an arms-length business 
transaction. Allegedly, W. Boaman was entitled to pecuniary benefit under the various parking-
related contracts identified in paragraph 71. By virtue of her conduct, Joan is alleged to have 
misappropriated that money to herself. Those allegations are sufficient to withstand a demurrer, 
particularly in light of the liberal construction the Court is required to give the elder abuse 
statute. 

On the ground that the facts alleged here do not come within the ambit of the financial elder 
abuse statute, the Demurrer is overruled. 

Second, Joan argues that the 1AXC fails to allege the requisite specificity to make out a 
statutory cause of action. The Court disagrees. In connection with the initial demurrer, the Court 
ruled that the Boamans must allege the specific contracts and contractual benefits of which 
Joan allegedly deprived W. Boaman. This the 1AXC has done. Paragraph 71 identifies a litany 
of parking-related contracts. The 1AXC alleges that Joan’s conduct deprived W. Boaman of the 
financial benefits of those contracts. It is not necessary to be any more specific than that; 
indeed, “money” is frequently the only benefit a party contemplates receiving from a contractual 
arrangement. 

Curiously, the reply papers seem to argue that the 1AXC must meet the pleading standard for 
fraud to withstand demurrer. The Court rejects that argument. Fraud is not a required element of 
a financial elder abuse cause of action. The other matters that the reply contends should be in 
the pleading – the length of the contracts, their scope, etc. are similarly not necessary at this 
stage. The Court expects that the ancillary details of the contracts will come out in discovery. 
The 1AXC bases the financial elder abuse cause of action on a taking, secreting, 
misappropriating, etc. of contractual benefits from W. Boaman. The 1AXC has identified those 
contracts so that all parties may focus the litigation on those particular contracts. This is 
sufficiently particular to withstand demurrer. 

The Demurrer is overruled. Joan shall file and serve an answer to the 1AXC on or before 
October 23, 2017. 
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11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02428 
CASE NAME: SENAVSKY VS. BOAMAN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR SRIKE AMENDED CROSS COMPLAINT FILED BY 
JOAN SENAVSKY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Joan moves to strike the punitive damages allegations and prayer from the 1AXC. She also 
moves to strike the fifth cause of action (wrongful termination of the lease) as duplicative of the 
first cause of action (breach of the lease). 

Punitive Damages 

The standard for pleading a claim for punitive damages is a difficult one to meet. Punitive 
damages are “available to a party who can plead and prove the facts and circumstances set 
forth in Civil Code section 3294.” Hilliard v. A.H. Robins Co. (1983) 148 Cal.App.3d 374, 392. 
Punitive damages are disfavored by the law, and should be granted with the greatest of caution 
and only in the clearest of cases. Henderson v. Security Pacific National Bank (1977) 72 
Cal.App.3d 764, 771. “There must be circumstances of aggravation or outrage, such as spite or 
‘malice,’ or a fraudulent or evil motive on the part of the defendant, or such a conscious and 
deliberate disregard of the interests of others that his conduct may be called willful or wanton.” 
Mock v. Michigan Millers Mutual Ins. Co. (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 306, 328. 

Punitive damages are available under Civil Code § 3294 “where it is proven by clear and 
convincing evidence that the defendant has been guilty of oppression, fraud, or malice.” Malice 
is “conduct which is intended by the defendant to cause injury to the plaintiff or despicable 
conduct which is carried on by the defendant with a willful and conscious disregard of the rights 
or safety of others.” Oppression is “despicable conduct that subjects a person to a cruel and 
unjust hardship in conscious disregard of that person’s rights.” Civ. Code §§ 3294(c)(1), 
3294(c)(2). Fraud is defined as “an intentional misrepresentation, deceit, or concealment of a 
material fact known to the defendant with the intention on the part of the defendant of thereby 
depriving a person of property or legal rights or otherwise causing injury.” Civ. Code § 
3294(c)(3). 

The central issue in this case is whether it was permissible for Joan to terminate the lease held 
by the Boamans for the subject property. It is undisputed that the Boamans were using the 
property for a purpose that was expressly prohibited by the relevant lease, and that such a use 
permitted Joan to terminate the lease. However, as the Court already has noted in connection 
with the prior demurrer, the Boamans allege facts that, if true, might warrant a conclusion that 
Joan waived her right to enforce the provision of the lease limiting their use of the property. 
There might also be other reasons Joan could not have terminated the lease. 

The opposition contends that punitive damages are justified in this case because Joan 
terminated the lease “in retaliation” for the Boamans declining to share with her the parking 
revenue they were deriving from the property. They do not argue that Joan misled them or lied 
to them about the lease. Thus, the Boamans are proceeding under either the “oppression” or 
“malice” prong of § 3294. 

The opposition misses the mark. At bottom, this is a business dispute concerning an arms-
length transaction. Joan acted according to the strict letter of the lease in terminating it. It might 
be that other facts compel the conclusion that Joan was not permitting to terminate the lease, 
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but her conduct simply does not constitute malicious or oppressive conduct within the meaning 
of § 3294.  

The motion to strike the punitive damages claims is granted. This ruling is without prejudice to 
the Boamans bringing a later motion for leave to amend their cross-complaint to add a punitive 
damages claim, if facts are unearthed in discovery that would support such a motion. In 
addition, if evidence is adduced at trial that might permit a punitive damages award, nothing 
stops the Court from conforming the pleadings to proof. 

Fifth Cause of Action 

In connection with the initial demurrer, the Boamans conceded that the fifth cause of action 
(wrongful termination of lease) was duplicative of the first cause of action (breach of contract). 
The Court sustained the demurrer with leave to amend, and directed the Boamans to amend to 
“make clear how the fifth cause of action is distinct from the first cause of action.” The Boamans 
have alleged some new facts, but those facts do not distinguish this cause of action from the 
breach of contract cause of action. The new facts seem directed at attempting to support a claim 
for punitive damages. 

Joan seeks to strike the fifth cause of action on the ground that the amendment exceeded the 
scope of the leave to amend the Court granted in its ruling on the initial demurrer. The 
opposition contends that a breach of contract may also be tortious. That is true as a general 
matter. The opposition also argues that the fifth cause of action alleges the tort of wrongful 
termination of the lease.  

The opposition focuses its argument on the availability of punitive damages when the breach of 
a contract is also done in a manner that is tortious. Again, while that observation may be sound 
as a general matter, the Court already has found in connection with this case that the 
allegations are insufficient to state a claim for punitive damages. None of the facts alleged in the 
fifth cause of action compel the Court to change its conclusion in that regard. It is, therefore, 
difficult to discern how the fifth cause of action is not entirely duplicative of the first cause of 
action. 

The motion to strike the fifth cause of action is granted. The Boamans did not amend in a 
manner consistent with the Court’s prior order. However, this ruling is without prejudice to the 
Boamans bringing a later motion for leave to amend if facts are uncovered during discovery that 
would warrant a cause of action for tortious breach of contract. 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02428 
CASE NAME: SENAVSKY VS. BOAMAN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE PORTIONS OF FIRST AMENDED 
CROSS-COMPLAINT FILED BY FRANK W. HOBBS JR , LORRIANE E. CURB 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 
Hobbs and Curb move to strike the punitive damages allegations and prayer from the 1AXC. 

Before addressing the merits of the motion to strike, the Court strikes the reply brief filed by 
Hobbs and Curb and declines to consider it. It was filed on September 15, 2017. The statutory 
deadline for the reply brief was September 14, 2017. The parties shall observe and comply with 
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statutory filing deadlines. 

The Court adopts the reasoning set forth in its tentative ruling on Joan’s motion to strike. Even 
assuming, arguendo, that Hobbs and Curb ratified Joan’s conduct in this case, that conduct is 
not sufficient to support a claim for punitive damages. 

The motion to strike is granted. This ruling is without prejudice to the Boamans bringing a later 
motion for leave to amend their cross-complaint to add claims for punitive damages claims, if 
facts are unearthed in discovery that would support such a motion. In addition, if evidence is 
adduced at trial that might permit a punitive damages award, nothing stops the Court from 
conforming the pleadings to proof. 

  

13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02428 
CASE NAME: SENAVSKY VS. BOAMAN 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00004 
CASE NAME: ERIC LEARN VS SCOTT'S SEAFOOD 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR COMPEL ANSWERS TO FORM INTERROGATORIES, 
FILED BY SCOTT'S SEAFOOD GRILL & BAR (WALNUT CREEK) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Granted. Plaintiff is ordered to provide verified responses to all discovery requests that are the 
subject of this motion by October 6, 2017. Sanctions awarded to Defendant in the amount of 
$510.  

  

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00394 
CASE NAME: HAUS VS RICE 
HEARING ON APPLICATION FOR RIGHT TO ATTACH ORDER ( FILED 
08-11-17 BY MICHAEL DAVID HAUS) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Continued to October 26, 2017 per stipulation filed 9/14/17. 
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16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00814 
CASE NAME: RENEE BENHAM VS WELLS FARGO BA 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT of BENHAM FILED BY WELLS FARGO 
BANK N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
  
  
Before the Court is a demurrer (the “Demurrer”) filed by Defendant Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 
successor by merger with Wells Fargo Bank Southwest, N.A., f/k/a Wachovia Mortgage, FSB, 
f/k/a World Savings Bank, FSB (“Defendant” or “Wells Fargo”). The Demurrer relates to the 
Complaint filed by Renee Benham (“Benham”). This is an unlawful foreclosure case. The 
Complaint pleads causes of action for (1) violation of Civil Code § 2923.6; (2) violation of 
§ 2923.7; (3) negligence; and (4) unfair business practices. 

Request for Judicial Notice 

Defendant Requests Judicial Notice of several documents. This Request is unopposed. The 

Request for Judicial Notice (“RJN”) is granted. Evid. Code §§ 452, 453. 

Standard 

“The function of a demurrer is to test the sufficiency of the complaint as a matter of law.” Holiday 

Matinee, Inc. v. Rambus, Inc. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1413, 1420. A complaint “is sufficient if it 

alleges ultimate rather than evidentiary facts” (Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 42 Cal.4th 531, 

550 (“Doe”)), but the plaintiff must set forth the essential facts of his or her case “with 

reasonable precision and with particularity sufficient to acquaint [the] defendant with the nature, 

source and extent” of the plaintiff’s claim. Doheny Park Terrace Homeowners Assn., Inc. v. 

Truck Ins. Exchange (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 1076, 1099. Legal conclusions are insufficient. Id. 

at 1098–1099; Doe at 551, fn. 5. The Court “assume[s] the truth of the allegations in the 

complaint, but do[es] not assume the truth of contentions, deductions, or conclusions of law.” 

California Logistics, Inc. v. State of California (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 242, 247. 

Factual Background 

Plaintiff is the owner of the real property at 719 Craig Ct., Brentwood, CA 94513 (the “Subject 
Property”). Complaint at ¶ 1. On or about April 27, 2001 she obtained a loan in the amount of 
$315,000 through Washington Mutual Bank to purchase the Subject Property, secured by a 
Deed of Trust. Complaint at ¶ 21. Plaintiff later refinanced on or about December 18, 2007 with 
a new loan in the amount of $504,000 through World Savings Bank, FSB. Complaint at ¶ 22 and 
Ex. A; see also RJN Ex. A.  

World Savings Bank, FSB, was a federal savings bank. RJN Ex. D. It was renamed Wachovia 
Mortgage, FSB on December 31, 2007. RJN Ex. E. Effective November 1, 2009, Wachovia 
Mortgage, FSB was converted to a national bank with the name Wells Fargo Bank Southwest, 
N.A., and merged with into Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. RJN Ex. F.  



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   33 
HEARING DATE:   09/21/17 

 
 

- 21 - 

Plaintiff began to experience financial hardship in or about the end of 2015 and began falling 
behind on mortgage payments in late 2015. Complaint at ¶ 25. NBS Default Services LLC 
recorded a Notice of Default on the Subject Property on April 7, 2016. Complaint ¶ 26 Ex. B. 

Plaintiff alleges that she submitted a complete loan modification application to Wells Fargo in 
2016. Complaint at ¶ 26. She alleges that thereafter she was assigned to various SPOCs who 
were not responsive to her. Id. at ¶ 27. Plaintiff alleges that notwithstanding her pending loan 
modification application, Wells Fargo moved forward with the foreclosure process and caused a 
Notice of Trustee’s Sale to be recorded on November 4, 2016. Id. at ¶ 28 and Ex. C. 
Subsequently, she received a loan modification denial letter from Wells Fargo on or about 
March 21, 2017. Complaint at ¶ 29. 

Analysis 

HOLA Preemption 

“Congress enacted the Home Owners’ Loan Act of 1933 (“HOLA”) to charter savings 
associations under federal law, at a time when record numbers of home loans were in default 
and a staggering number of state-chartered savings associations were insolvent. HOLA was 
designed to restore public confidence by creating a nationwide system of federal savings and 
loan associations to be centrally regulated according to nationwide ‘best practices.’” Silvas v. 
E*Trade Mortg. Corp. (9th Cir. 2008) 514 F.3d 1001, 1004 (internal citation omitted). “HOLA 
preemption is powerful. While there is usually a strong presumption against federal preemption 
of state law governing historic police powers, that presumption is reversed when applying 
HOLA.” Gerber v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (D.Ariz. Feb. 9, 2012, No. CV 11-01083-PHX-NVW) 
2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 15860, at *8 (“Gerber”) (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). 

HOLA granted savings banks express statutory field preemption of state foreclosure laws. 12 
U.S.C. §§ 1463(a) & 1464(a); 12 C.F.R. § 560.2(a); Lopez v. World Savings & Loan Assn. 
(2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 729, 738, 130 Cal. Rptr. 2d 42 (HOLA was “intended to preempt all 
state laws purporting to regulate any aspect of the lending operations of a federally chartered 
savings association.”). HOLA was strictly limited to federal savings institutions, however, and 
was not intended to affect the operations of national banks, which are governed by different 
laws. Penermon v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (N.D. Cal. 2014) 47 F.Supp.3d 982, 993-994 
(“Penermon”). Wells Fargo argues that HOLA preempts Plaintiff's HBOR claims because her 
loan originated with World Savings Bank, a federal savings bank. 

Wells Fargo, however, is not a federal savings association, but a national bank. Wells Fargo 
merged with Wachovia, which used to be World Savings Bank. And in this action, Plaintiff 
complains of conduct by Wells Fargo, post-merger, yet Wells Fargo maintains the claims are 
preempted. The Court disagrees. 

As the Gerber court succinctly stated, “Wells Fargo argues that HOLA preemption ‘sticks’ to any 
loan originating with a federal savings bank. [¶] The plain language of [12 C.F.R.] § 560.2 
demonstrates that this argument is without merit. … [¶] … [P]reemption is not some sort of asset 
that can be bargained, sold, or transferred. HOLA preemption was created … for the benefit of 
federal savings associations, and [12 C.F.R.] § 560.2 plainly seeks to avoid burdening the 
operations of federal savings associations. Wells Fargo is not a federal savings association . . . . 
HOLA preemption does not apply to Wells Fargo.” Gerber, supra, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 15860 
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at pp. *8-9. As a consequence, HOLA’s field preemption applies only if, at the time the cause of 
action arose, the defendant financial institution was a federal savings association. 

Such is not the case here. Plaintiff’s alleged HBOR violations are confined to 2016 (or 2015, if 
one includes the allegations regarding default). See Complaint at ¶¶ 25-29. These alleged 
causes of actions arose well after Wachovia Mortgage, FSB was converted to a national bank 
with the name Wells Fargo Bank Southwest, N.A., and merged with into Wells Fargo Bank, N.A 
(November 1, 2009). RJN Ex. F. As a consequence, Defendants’ preemption argument fails. 

Violation of Civil Code § 2923.6 

Plaintiff alleges that Wells Fargo violated § 2923.6 by failing to make a determination on her 
completed package for loan modification and moving forward with the foreclosure process. 
Complaint at ¶¶ 27, 28. 

Civil Code § 2923.6 prohibits “dual tracking,” wherein a “borrower’s mortgage servicer, a 
mortgage service, mortgagee, trustee, beneficiary, or authorized agent” records a notice of 
default or notice of sale, notwithstanding a pending application for a first lien loan modification. 
Civ. Code § 2923.6. The ban on “dual tracking” becomes effective once the borrower submits a 
“complete application for a first lien loan modification.” Civ. Code § 2923.6(c). 

Here, Plaintiff’s alleges that she submitted a complete loan application to Wells Fargo in early 
2016. Complaint at ¶ 27. She further alleges that while she was “in loan modification with [Wells 
Fargo]” and “submitting the same documents over and over per each SPOC’s request,” Wells 
Fargo continued the foreclosure process. Complaint at ¶ 28. She alleges that she received a 
loan modification denial letter from Wells Fargo on March 21, 2017 (Complaint at ¶ 29), 
notwithstanding the fact that Wells Fargo had a Notice of Trustee’s Sale recorded on November 
4, 2016 (Complaint at ¶ 28). 

However, HBOR provides relief only for a “material” violation of the dual tracking statute. See 
Civ. Code § 2924.12(a)(1) (“a borrower may bring an action for injunctive relief to enjoin a 
material violation of Section 2923.55, 2923.6, 2923.7, 2924.9, 2924.10, 2924.11, or 2924.17.”) 
(emphasis added). Plaintiff has failed to allege that any technical violations of the dual tracking 
provisions were “material,” in the sense that but for those violations, Wells Fargo would have 
agreed to a loan modification agreement that Plaintiff could have afforded. In the absence of 
such allegations, Plaintiff has failed to allege that she was damaged by any alleged technical 
violations of 2923.6.  

The Demurrer to this cause of action is sustained, with leave to amend  

Violation of § 2923.7 

Plaintiffs allege that Wells Fargo violated Civil Code section 2923.7 because no single point of 
contact was provided to Plaintiff after she commenced communicating with Wells Fargo 
regarding a loan modification. Complaint at ¶ 27. 

Civil Code § 2923.7 requires a SPOC to be appointed when a borrower “requests a foreclosure 
prevention alternative,” such as a loan modification. Civ. Code § 2923.7(a).  

Here, Plaintiff alleges that she “was assigned to various SPOCs and had to submit the same 
information as the documents either expired or the new SPOC claimed he could not see in the 
file.” Complaint at ¶ 27. She alleges that her SPOC did not return her phone calls throughout the 
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loan modification process and that she was forced to resort to calling the 800 help line, wherein 
“she would be assigned and transferred from one SPOC to the next.” Id. 

However, Plaintiff’s Complaint fails to allege any material “actual economic damages” as a 
consequence of these alleged violations. As a consequence, the Demurrer to this cause of 
action is sustained, with leave to amend. 

Negligence 

To state a cause of action for negligence, a plaintiff must allege: (1) the defendant owed the 
plaintiff a duty of care; (2) the defendant breached that duty, and (3) the breach proximately 
caused the plaintiff’s damages or injuries. Lueras v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP (2013) 221 
Cal. App. 4th 49, 62. “The existence of a duty of care owed by a defendant to a plaintiff is a 
prerequisite to establish a claim for negligence.” Nymark v. Heart Fed. Savings & Loan Ass’n 
(1991) 231 Cal. App. 3d 1089, 1096.  

A lender may owe a borrower duties of care under Civil Code § 1714. See Daniels v. Select 
Portfolio Servicing, Inc. (6th Dist. 2016) 246 Cal. App. 4th 1150, 1158, 1180-1182; Alvarez v. 
BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P. (1st Dist. 2014) 228 Cal. App. 4th 941, 944-949; Jolley v. 
Chase Home Finance, LLC (1st Dist. 2013) 213 Cal. App. 4th 872. 

Plaintiff’s negligence allegations center on Defendants’ alleged improper review and processing 
of Plaintiff’s loan modification application. See Complaint at ¶¶ 51-54. However, the Complaint 
fails to allege how that alleged negligent conduct caused Plaintiff’s default. In the absence of 
such a nexus, Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to state a cause of action for 
negligence. 

The Demurrer to this cause of action is sustained, with leave to amend. 

Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 

California’s unfair competition law (UCL), Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq., prohibits 
unfair competition, which is defined as any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or 
practice. § 17200. A claim may be brought under the UCL by a person who has suffered injury 
in fact and has lost money or property as a result of unfair competition. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 
§ 17204. Therefore, to establish standing under the UCL, a plaintiff must (1) establish a loss or 
deprivation of money sufficient to qualify as injury in fact, i.e., economic injury, and (2) show that 
the economic injury was the result of, i.e., caused by, the unfair business practice that is the 
gravamen of the claim. See Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court (2011) 51 Cal.4th 310, 337 
(“Kwikset”). Restitution is the only form of damages available under the UCL. See Korea Supply 
Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2002) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1147. 

The alleged unfair conduct complained of appears to be Defendants’ improper review and 
processing of Plaintiff’s loan modification application. Complaint at ¶ 59. However, Plaintiff’s 
Complaint is bereft of allegations which would demonstrate economic injury and causation. In 
the absence of allegations that she incurred a “personal, individualized loss of money or 
property in any nontrivial amount” (Kwikset, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 325), such as late fees and 
penalties, that were caused by Defendants’ unfair and fraudulent conduct, Plaintiff has not 
alleged facts sufficient to state a cause of action for violation of Business and Professions Code 
§ 17200. 

The Demurrer to this cause of action is sustained, with leave to amend. 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   33 
HEARING DATE:   09/21/17 

 
 

- 24 - 

  

17.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00853 
CASE NAME: GIANELLI VS. SCHWARTZ 
HEARING ON MOTION TO CHANGE VENUE TO SANTA BARBARA COUNTY 
FILED BY ERIC WOOSLEY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 The motion to change venue, brought by defendant Eric Woosley in his individual 
capacity, is granted.  Upon payment of the prescribed fee, this entire action, as against all 
defendants, shall be transferred to the County of Santa Barbara.  The two venue motions 
brought by other defendants, currently under submission, are moot in light of this ruling. 
 
 In her Complaint, plaintiff alleges three causes of action against defendant Woosley: 
(1) legal malpractice; (2) breach of fiduciary duty, and; (3) fraud.  These are all tort causes of 
action.  Plaintiff’s reliance on the proper venue for a breach of contract cause of action, 
as stated in plaintiff’s opposition, is misplaced. 
 
 This case is governed by the basic rule of venue, which is that “the superior court in the 
county where the defendants or some of them reside at the commencement of the action is the 
proper court for the trial of the action.”  (Code Civ. Proc., § 395, subd. (a).)  Plaintiff’s own 
allegations show that defendant Woosley resides in the County of Santa Barbara, and that no 
other defendant resides in Contra Costa County.  (Complaint, ¶ 16 [defendant Schwartz resides 
in Pennsylvania]; ¶ 17 [defendant Woosley resides in Santa Barbara]; ¶ 18 [defendant Dennis 
resides in Los Angeles].)  Further, plaintiff so argues in the opposition memorandum filed on 
July 24, 2017.  (Page 2, lines 1-2 [“[i]t is beyond argument the place[s] of each Defendants’ 
residence are outside Contra Costa county”].) 
 
 There is a statutory exception to the basic rule of venue that is applicable to tort causes 
of action “for injury to person or personal property.”  This exception provides that venue is also 
proper in “the county where the injury occurs.”  (Code Civ. Proc., § 395, subd. (a).)  However, as 
applied to individual defendants such as defendant Woosley, the exception covers only physical 
injury, strictly construed.  (See, Carruth v. Superior Court (1978) 80 Cal.App.3d 215, 219-220.)  
Also, plaintiff has not cited legal authorities supporting the proposition that she has suffered any 
kind of “injury to person” in Contra Costa County.  Finally, while the “injury to person” exception 
may be more broadly construed when applied to corporate defendants, in this mixed action case 
the law applicable to individual defendants must control.  (Id., at 220-221.) 
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18.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00853 
CASE NAME: GIANELLI VS. SCHWARTZ 
HEARING ON JOINDER IN MOTION TO MOTION TO CHANGE VENUE 
FILED BY MARK SCHWARTZ 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 The joinder of co-defendant Mark Schwartz is allowed, although the joinder of one or 
more co-defendants was not necessary to the Court’s ruling on defendant Eric Woosley’s 
motion to change venue.  Mr. Woosley’s motion is granted for the reasons stated in the Court’s 
separate ruling.  Upon payment of the prescribed fee, this entire action, as against all 
defendants, shall be transferred to the County of Santa Barbara. 

 

  

19.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00973 
CASE NAME: BARNES VS TOVAR 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR SERVE DEFT JOSE TOVAR BY PUBLICATION 
FILED BY TYRONE R BARNES 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Granted. 

  

20.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01128 
CASE NAME: SCOTT VS. FORD 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of SCOTT FILED BY 
FORD MOTOR 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Hearing dropped per stipulation of counsel. 

  

21.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01128 
CASE NAME: SCOTT VS. FORD 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE FILED BY FORD MOTOR 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Hearing dropped per stipulation of counsel. 
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22.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01174 
CASE NAME: SANTILLIAN VS. PEREZ 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 

  

23.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01174 
CASE NAME: SANTILLIAN VS. PEREZ 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 

  

24.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01183 
CASE NAME: ROSEMARIE VILLANUEVA VS WELLS 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT of VILLANUEVA FILED BY WELLS 
FARGO BANK, N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
  
Before the Court is a demurrer (the “Demurrer”) filed by Defendant Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 
successor by merger with Wells Fargo Bank Southwest, N.A., f/k/a Wachovia Mortgage, FSB, 
f/k/a World Savings Bank, FSB (“Wells Fargo”). The Demurrer relates to the Complaint filed by 
Plaintiff Rosemarie Villanueva and Plaintiff Mario Villanueva (collectively, the “Plaintiffs” or the 
“Villanuevas”). The Complaint alleges causes of action for (1) negligence; (2) violation of Bus. & 
Prof. Code § 17200 et seq.; (3) violation of Civ. Code § 2923.6; and (4) breach of contract. 

For the following reasons, the Demurrer is sustained, with one opportunity to amend to allege 
facts which would preclude the operation of judicial estoppel and which would allege facts 
sufficient to state claims for (1) negligence; (2) violation of Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq.; 
(3) violation of Civ. Code § 2923.6; and (4) breach of contract. 

Request for Judicial Notice 

Wells Fargo requests judicial notice of several documents. The request is unopposed. The 
Request for Judicial Notice (“RJN”) is granted. Evid. Code §§ 452, 453.  

Standard 
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“The function of a demurrer is to test the sufficiency of the complaint as a matter of law.” Holiday 
Matinee, Inc. v. Rambus, Inc. (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1413, 1420. A complaint “is sufficient if it 
alleges ultimate rather than evidentiary facts” (Doe v. City of Los Angeles (2007) 42 Cal.4th 531, 
550 (“Doe”)), but the plaintiff must set forth the essential facts of his or her case “with 
reasonable precision and with particularity sufficient to acquaint [the] defendant with the nature, 
source and extent” of the plaintiff’s claim. Doheny Park Terrace Homeowners Assn., Inc. v. 
Truck Ins. Exchange (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 1076, 1099. Legal conclusions are insufficient. Id. 
at 1098–1099; Doe at 551, fn. 5. The Court “assume[s] the truth of the allegations in the 
complaint, but do[es] not assume the truth of contentions, deductions, or conclusions of law.” 
California Logistics, Inc. v. State of California (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 242, 247. 

Analysis 

 Judicial Estoppel 

Defendant argues that Plaintiff’s entire FAC is barred by the operation of judicial estoppel. 

As a threshold matter, the Court notes that both Plaintiffs and Defendant rely heavily on federal 

law in their papers. Neither party cites controlling California authority, specifically, Hamilton v. 

Greenwich Investors XXVI, LLC (2011) 195 Cal.App.4th 1602. The Hamilton court held that the 

result of a failure to disclose any litigation likely to arise in a nonbankruptcy context triggers 

application of the doctrine of equitable estoppel, operating against a subsequent attempt to 

prosecute the actions. Id. at 1610. The Hamilton court adopted the rule of Oneida Motor Frieght, 

a Third Circuit case which applied doctrines of equitable and judicial estoppel to find that a 

debtor’s failure to disclose a lender liability claim in chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings 

precluded the debtor from later litigating the claim. Id. (citing Oneida Motor Freight, Inc. v. 

United Jersey Bank (3d Cir. 1998) 848 F.2d 414). In Hamilton, the appellate court affirmed that 

the plaintiff borrower’s fraud and breach of contract claims against the defendant lender were 

barred under the doctrine of equitable and judicial estoppel, because he failed to disclose the 

existence of the claims against the lender in the bankruptcy proceedings. (Hamilton, supra, at 

p.1610.) The court adopted the Oneida Motor Freight rule because it reasoned that similar to 

Oneida Motor Freight, the defendant bank was one of the plaintiff’s principal creditors in the 

bankruptcy proceedings and the events the complaint was based on occurred before his 

bankruptcy proceedings. (Id. at p. 1614.) As a consequence, the Hamilton court distinguished 

cases such as Ryan Operations G.P. v. Santiam-Midwest Lumber Co. (3d Cir. 1996) 81 F.3d 

355, Cloud v. Northrop Grumman Corp. (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 995 and Gottlieb v. Kest (2006) 

141 Cal.App.4th 110 where judicial estoppel was not applied. (Id. at p. 1610.) Those cases 

either did not involve lender liability, or the bankruptcy court did not confirm a plan of 

reorganization. (Ibid.) 

The Complaint falls squarely within the Oneida Motor Freight rule as adopted by Hamilton. Here, 

as with Hamilton, Plaintiff Rosemarie Villanueva took inconsistent positions and failed to 

disclose the claims against the Defendant in her previous Chapter 13 bankruptcy proceedings. 

Also similarly, the instant lawsuit was filed subsequent to Plaintiff’s Chapter 13 bankruptcy 

proceedings. The underlying events of Plaintiff’s complaint took place prior to December 22, 

2016, when she received notice of trustee’s sale. (Complaint at ¶ 27.) Plaintiff filed the Chapter 

13 petition in Bankruptcy court on January 20, 2012, in which the Defendant is a creditor, and 
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her declaration in support of her Chapter 13 plan on the same date. (RJN Ex. D.) Plaintiff filed 

an amended Chapter 13 plan on April 12, 2012, and a second amended plan on April 26, 2012. 

(Id.). Plaintiff filed a third amended plan on May 4, 2012; said plan was confirmed on May 30, 

2012. (Id.). Then on January 20, 2017, Plaintiff initiated the lawsuit in Sacramento Superior 

Court. It does not appear that at any point Plaintiff disclosed the current lawsuit, even though the 

alleged events happened before she filed her bankruptcy petition. 

Both in Hamilton and here the lawsuit against the lender was filed after the bankruptcy court 

confirmed the Chapter 13 plan. Critically, Plaintiff successfully asserted her prior position in the 

bankruptcy court. Contrast with Gottlieb where the court did not apply judicial estoppel. In that 

case, the plaintiff did not submit a reorganization plan in the prior bankruptcy proceeding, 

creditors did not accept a plan, and the bankruptcy court did not review or confirm a plan. (See 

id. at p. 139-40.) Plaintiff argues that only bad faith nondisclosure in bankruptcy proceedings 

can be estopped and determination of bad faith cannot be resolved on demurrer. However, 

Hamilton did not consider evidence of bad faith, and distinguished cases such as Cloud and 

Gottlieb where judicial estoppel was not applied. (Hamilton, supra, at p. 1610.) Those cases 

either did not involve lender liability, or the bankruptcy court did not confirm a plan of 

reorganization. (Ibid.) Such is not the case here. Similar to Cloud, the claim in Haley did not 

involve lender liability and the defendant was not a major creditor in the plaintiff’s bankruptcy 

proceedings. As a consequence, neither case bars a finding of judicial estoppel on these facts. 

Furthermore, even if the claims of the Complaint were not barred by the operation of judicial 

estoppel, Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to state causes of action for (1) negligence; 

(2) violation of Business and Professions Code § 17200; (3) violation of Civil Code § 2923.6; 

and (4) breach of contract. 

Negligence 

To state a cause of action for negligence, a plaintiff must allege: (1) the defendant owed the 
plaintiff a duty of care; (2) the defendant breached that duty, and (3) the breach proximately 
caused the plaintiff’s damages or injuries. Lueras v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP (2013) 221 
Cal. App. 4th 49, 62. “The existence of a duty of care owed by a defendant to a plaintiff is a 
prerequisite to establish a claim for negligence.” Nymark v. Heart Fed. Savings & Loan Ass’n 
(1991) 231 Cal. App. 3d 1089, 1096.  

A lender may owe a borrower duties of care under Civil Code § 1714. See Daniels v. Select 
Portfolio Servicing, Inc. (6th Dist. 2016) 246 Cal. App. 4th 1150, 1158, 1180-1182; Alvarez v. 
BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P. (1st Dist. 2014) 228 Cal. App. 4th 941, 944-949; Jolley v. 
Chase Home Finance, LLC (1st Dist. 2013) 213 Cal. App. 4th 872. 

The gravamen of Plaintiff’s negligence allegations appears to be Defendant’s negligent review 
and processing of Plaintiff’s loan modification application. See Complaint at ¶¶ 44-49. However, 
the Complaint fails to allege how that alleged negligent conduct caused Plaintiff’s default. In the 
absence of such a nexus, Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to state a cause of action 
for negligence. 

The Demurrer to this cause of action is sustained, with leave to amend. 
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Violation of Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq. 

California’s unfair competition law (UCL), Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq., prohibits 
unfair competition, which is defined as any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or 
practice. § 17200. A claim may be brought under the UCL by a person who has suffered injury 
in fact and has lost money or property as a result of unfair competition. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 
17204. Therefore, to establish standing under the UCL, a plaintiff must (1) establish a loss or 
deprivation of money sufficient to qualify as injury in fact, i.e., economic injury, and (2) show that 
the economic injury was the result of, i.e., caused by, the unfair business practice that is the 
gravamen of the claim. See Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court (2011) 51 Cal.4th 310, 337 
(“Kwikset”). Restitution is the only form of damages available under the UCL. See Korea Supply 
Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2002) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1147. 

Here, the alleged unfair conduct complained of is the alleged dual tracking and improper denial 
of Plaintiff’s loan modification application. Complaint at ¶ 61. However, Plaintiffs’ Complaint is 
bereft of allegations which would demonstrate economic injury and causation. In the absence of 
allegations that they incurred a “personal, individualized loss of money or property in any 
nontrivial amount” (Kwikset, 51 Cal.4th at 325), that were caused by Defendants’ allegedly 
unfair and fraudulent conduct, Plaintiffs have not alleged facts sufficient to state a cause of 
action for violation of § 17200. The Demurrer to this claim is sustained, with leave to amend. 

Violation of Civ. Code § 2923.6 

Plaintiff alleges that Wells Fargo violated § 2923.6 by failing to make a determination on her 
completed package for loan modification and moving forward with the foreclosure process. 
Complaint at ¶ 65. 

Civil Code § 2923.6 prohibits “dual tracking,” wherein a “borrower’s mortgage servicer, a 
mortgage service, mortgagee, trustee, beneficiary, or authorized agent” records a notice of 
default or notice of sale, notwithstanding a pending application for a first lien loan modification. 
Civ. Code § 2923.6. The ban on “dual tracking” becomes effective once the borrower submits a 
“complete application for a first lien loan modification.” Civ. Code § 2923.6(c). 

Here, Plaintiff’s alleges that she submitted a complete loan application to Wells Fargo in late 
2016, after an initial denial. Complaint at ¶ 25. She further alleges that “[n]otwithstanding the 
new modification review still pending, on December 22, 2016, Defendants recorded a Notice of 
Trustee’s sale threatening to sell the home on January 25, 2017.” Complaint at ¶ 27. She 
alleges that she received a loan modification denial letter from Wells Fargo on December 29, 
2016, notwithstanding the fact that Wells Fargo had a Notice of Trustee’s Sale recorded one 
week earlier. Complaint at ¶ 28. 

However, HBOR provides relief only for a “material” violation of the dual tracking statute. See 
Civ. Code § 2924.12(a)(1) (“a borrower may bring an action for injunctive relief to enjoin a 
material violation of Section 2923.55, 2923.6, 2923.7, 2924.9, 2924.10, 2924.11, or 2924.17.”) 
(emphasis added). Plaintiff has failed to allege that any technical violations of the dual tracking 
provisions were “material,” in the sense that but for those violations, Wells Fargo would have 
agreed to a loan modification agreement that Plaintiff could have afforded. In the absence of 
such allegations, Plaintiff has failed to allege that she was damaged by any alleged technical 
violations of 2923.6.  

The Demurrer to this cause of action is sustained, with leave to amend. 
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Breach of Contract 

“[T]he elements of a cause of action for breach of contract are (1) the existence of the contract, 
(2) plaintiff’s performance or excuse for nonperformance, (3) defendant’s breach, and (4) the 
resulting damages to the plaintiff.” Oasis W. Realty, LLC v. Goldman (2011) 51 Cal.4th 811, 
821. 

Plaintiff alleges that she and Wells Fargo entered into an oral contract whereby Wells Fargo 
“agreed to review the subject mortgage loan for a loan modification before it foreclosed.” 
Complaint at ¶ 74. As a threshold issue, the alleged oral agreement is unclear. The Complaint 
lacks detail regarding when the alleged agreement was reached, with whom, and what precisely 
were the terms. Plaintiff has not sufficiently alleged a contract between herself and Defendant. 

Plaintiffs have not alleged facts sufficient to state a claim for breach of contract. The Demurrer is 
sustained, with leave to amend. 

  

25.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01183 
CASE NAME: ROSEMARIE VILLANUEVA VS WELLS 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES FILED BY ROSEMARIE 
VILLANUEVA, MARIO VILLANUEVA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
  
Before the Court is a motion for attorney’s fees filed by Plaintiff Rosemarie Villanueva and 
Plaintiff Mario Villanueva (collectively, the “Plaintiffs” or the “Villanuevas”) pursuant to Civil Code 
§ 2924.12. The motion is opposed by Defendant Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., successor by merger 
with Wells Fargo Bank Southwest, N.A., f/k/a Wachovia Mortgage, FSB, f/k/a World Savings 
Bank, FSB (“Wells Fargo”).  

Subsection (i) of section 2924.12 provides that “[a] court may award a prevailing borrower 
reasonable attorney’s fees and costs in an action brought pursuant to this section. A borrower 
shall be deemed to have prevailed for purposes of this subdivision if the borrower obtained 
injunctive relief or was awarded damages pursuant to this section.” 

Plaintiffs have not secured a preliminary injunction and have not been awarded damages. 
Securing a TRO is not sufficient under this subsection. Plaintiffs have not prevailed for purposes 
of § 2923.12(i). The motion for attorney’s fees is denied. 

 

  

26.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01183 
CASE NAME: ROSEMARIE VILLANUEVA VS WELLS 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear 
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27.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL16-02904 
CASE NAME: HERITAGE POINTE VS. DILLARD 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR SET ASIDE DEFAULT FILED BY DANIELLE Y 
DILLARD, TONY DILLARD 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Denied. As to Danielle Dillard the motion is untimely since it was not served until 3 weeks after 
the 6 month deadline imposed by CCP 473(b). As to Tony Dillard, the court finds that he was 
properly served and that he has not submitted evidence sufficient to establish mistake or 
excusable neglect.  

  

28.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL16-02904 
CASE NAME: HERITAGE POINTE VS. DILLARD 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 

  

29.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL17-01094 
CASE NAME: CAPITAL ONE VS PAEZ 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS FILED BY 
CAPITAL ONE BANK (USA), N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 

  

30.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-1468 
CASE NAME: HAYDER VS CONSTRUCTION 
HEARING ON PETITION TO/FOR RELEASE OF PROPERTY FROM CLAIM OF 
MECHANICS LIEN FILED BY MAY HAYDER, BESSMA HAYDER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

ADD ON 
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31.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01983 
CASE NAME: FIEL VS. VALCON CRITICAL CARE 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of FIEL FILED BY 
JACOB UYEYAMA, FALCON CRITICAL CARE TRANSPORT 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a demurrer (“the Demurrer”) filed by Defendants Falcon Critical Care 

Transport (“Falcon”) and Jacob Uyeyama (“Uyeyama”) (collectively, “Defendants”).  The 

demurrer relates to the First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) filed by Plaintiff Rex Fiel as Guardian 

Ad Litem for Keyano Fiel (“Plaintiff” or “Keyano”).  This case is about an unauthorized social 

media post by Falcon employee, Uyeyama, who posted a picture of Keyano’s injured leg to 

Instagram while transporting him between hospitals.  Plaintiff alleges five causes of action 

against Defendants: 1) violation of the Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (“CMIA”), 2) 

intentional infliction of emotional distress, 3) negligent infliction of emotional distress, 4) 

negligence per se, and 5) negligent hiring, retention and supervision. 

The demurrer is overruled as to the unlawful disclosure of medical information, intentional 

infliction of emotional distress, negligent infliction of emotional distress, and negligence causes 

of actions against Uyeyama.  

The demurrer is sustained with leave to amend as to causes of action against Falcon for 

unlawful disclosure of medical information and negligent infliction of emotional distress.  

However, the demurrer is overruled as to claims against Falcon for intentional infliction of 

emotional distress, negligence, and negligent hiring, retention, and supervision. 

I. Facts 
 

On March 11, 2016, Plaintiff Keyano Fiel crashed his motorcycle, resulting in severe injuries.  

(FAC 2 ¶ 6.)  News media obtained the police report for the accident and published stories that 

disclosed the make and year of Plaintiff’s motorcycle, his age, his city of residence, and the time 

of the accident.  (FAC 6 ¶ 1.) 

Falcon was the ambulance service responsible for transporting Plaintiff between hospitals.  

(FAC 2 ¶ 8.)  At some time during Plaintiff’s transportation, Uyeyama, an employee of Falcon, 

took a photograph of Plaintiff’s leg injuries and posted it to Instagram – all without Plaintiff’s 

consent.  (FAC 2 ¶ 9.)   

Uyeyama posted the photo using the username “uyeyama emt” with “Falcon Critical Care 

Transport” listed as the location.  (FAC 2 ¶ 9.)  The caption stated: “This is what happens when 

you are careless in the rain on your motorcycle.  Be careful on the roads out there people, they 

are wet and very slick.  Don’t be the rains next victim, I don’t want to give you a ride in my 

booboo bus.”  (FAC Exhibit 1.)  In addition, the post contained the hashtags: “#byebyeankle 

#falconambulnce #falconcct #ifyoufibiwillpaddleyou #thelouderyouscreamthefasterwego 

#oncethedoorscloseyourassismine.”  (FAC 2 ¶ 9.) 
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On February 16, 2017, Plaintiff filed his First Amended Complaint (“FAC”), alleging the following 

causes of action against Uyeyama and Falcon: 

● Cause of Action 1: Unlawful disclosure of medical information under the Confidentiality of 
Medical Information Act (“CMIA”) (Civil Code §§ 56 et seq.) (FAC 3) 

● Cause of Action 2: Intentional infliction of emotional distress (FAC 6-7) 
● Cause of Action 3: Negligent infliction of emotional distress (FAC 8) 
● Cause of Action 4: Negligence per se (FAC 8) 
● Cause of Action 5: Negligent hiring (FAC 9) 

 

On June 26, 2017, Defendants demurred to all causes of action pursuant to Code of Civil 

Procedure § 430.10(e) for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action.  (Notice 

of Defendants Demurrer 3.)  For the second cause of action only, Defendant also demurred on 

the grounds that the cause of action was prejudicially uncertain pursuant to CCP § 430.10(f).  

(Notice of Defendants Demurrer 3.) 

The Court did not consider Plaintiffs sur reply filed on September 14, 2017, which he filed 

without leave. 

II. Demurrer 
 

“The party against whom a complaint or cross-complaint has been filed may object, by 

demurrer” if “(e) [t]he pleading does not state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action” or 

“(f) [t]he pleading is uncertain.”  (Code Civ. Proc. (“CCP”) § 430.10(e)-(f).)  As used in 

subdivision (f), “uncertain” includes language that is ambiguous and unintelligible.  (CCP § 

430.10(f).) 

The court must “treat the demurrer as admitting all material facts properly pleaded, but not 

contentions, deductions or conclusions of fact or law.”  (Blank v. Kirwan (1985) 39 Cal.3d 311, 

318.)  The court gives “the complaint a reasonable interpretation, reading it as a whole and its 

parts in their context.”  (Ibid.) 

A. Cause of Action 1: Unlawful disclosure of medical information under the 
Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (“CMIA”) (Civil Code § 56 et seq.) 
 

a. As to Uyeyama  
 

Under the Confidentiality of Medical Information act, “[a] provider of health care, health care 

service plan, or contractor shall not disclose medical information regarding a patient of the 

provider of health care . . . without first obtaining an authorization.”  (Civ. Code § 56.10.) 

Plaintiff has alleged that Uyeyama disclosed the photo in question without authorization.  Thus, 

the primary issue at dispute is whether the photograph posted to Instagram constitutes “medical 

information.”   

“’Medical information’ means any individually identifiable information, in electronic or physical 

form, in possession of or derived from a provider of health care . . . regarding a patient’s medical 
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history, mental or physical condition, or treatment.”  (Civil Code § 56.05(j).)   ‘Individually 

identifiable’ means that the medical information includes or contains any element of personal 

identifying information sufficient to allow identification of the individual, such as . . . information 

that, alone or in combination with other publicly available information, reveals the individual’s 

identity.”  

Here, the photograph was in the possession of a provider of health, namely Uyeyama, who was 

an EMT.  Furthermore, the photograph regarded Keyano’s physical condition because it visually 

depicted his leg injuries.  The only remaining question is whether the photograph was 

individually identifiable in combination with other publicly available information.   

The FAC states that the media obtained the police report for the accident and published stories 

identifying Keyano’s motorcycle, his age, and his city of residence.  It further alleges that the 

Instagram photo was publically available.  Taken together, the above information was sufficient 

to identify Plaintiff, and establishes facts sufficient to state a cause of action under the CMIA.  

Someone acquainted with Plaintiff, though not aware of the specifics of the accident or Plaintiff’s 

physical condition, could have seen the news story and Instagram photo and connected both to 

Plaintiff.  Alternatively, though improbable, it is possible that a non-acquaintance could have 

seen the news story, sought the police report to discover Plaintiff’s name, and then seen the 

Instagram photo connecting it to Plaintiff.  Thus, the demurrer is overruled as to the first cause 

of action against Uyeyama.  (See Del E. Webb Corp. v. Structural Materials Co. (1981) 123 

Cal.App.3d 593, 604 [“the facts alleged in the pleading are deemed to be true, however 

improbable they may be”].)  

a. As to Falcon 
 

The FAC, however, fails to show that Falcon also violated the CMIA.  It was Uyeyama himself 

that posted the picture, and thus any liability on the part of Falcon would have to be vicarious in 

nature. 

“Under the doctrine of respondeat superior, an employer is vicariously liable for his employee’s 

torts committed within the scope of the employment.”  (Perez v. Van Groningen & Sons (1986) 

41 Cal.3d 962, 967 see Civ. Code, § 2338.)   

“The scope of employment depends upon the alleged employee’s activities and 

when, where, why and how he was acting.  Generally, factors to be considered 

include the intent of the employee, the nature, time and place of his conduct, his 

actual and implied authority, the work he was hired to do; incidental acts the 

employer should reasonably have expected would be done, the amount of 

freedom allowed the employee in performing his duties, whether the act was one 

the employer might have foreseen, and the other circumstances of the particular 

case.” 

(Johnson v. Banducci (1963) 212 Cal.App.2d 254, 262.) 
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Here, the only factors that seem to indicate vicarious liability are the when and where 

Uyeyama’s alleged actions took place, namely in the ambulance while transporting Plaintiff from 

one hospital to another.  Conversely, however, the majority of the factors go in favor finding that 

Uyeyama’s actions were not made in the scope of his employment.  The FAC does not allege 

that Uyeyama had the authority to post the photo or that he was hired to post photos of patients.  

Neither does the FAC allege that the photo was posted incidental to any of Uyeyama’s duties.  

As a consequence, Plaintiff has not adequately alleged that Uyeyama was acting within the 

scope of his employment when taking and posting the photo. Therefore, vicarious liability does 

not apply.  The demurrer as to the Falcon’s violation of the CMIA is sustained with leave to 

amend.   

B. Cause of Action 2: Intentional infliction of emotional distress 
 

a. As to Uyeyama 
 

“A cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress exists when there is ‘(1) extreme 

and outrageous conduct by the defendant with the intention of causing, or reckless disregard of 

the probability of causing, emotional distress; (2) the plaintiff’s suffering severe or extreme 

emotional distress; and (3) actual and proximate causation of the emotional distress by the 

defendant’s outrageous conduct.’  A defendant’s conduct is ‘outrageous’ when it is so ‘extreme 

as to exceed all bounds of that usually tolerated in a civilized community.’ And the defendant’s 

conduct must be ‘intended to inflict injury or engaged in with the realization that injury will 

result.’” (Hughes v. Pair (2009) 46 Cal.4th 1035, 1050–1051.) 

Uyeyama’s conduct could be regarded as outrageous when considering that the photo was 

taken after a life-threatening accident, by the individual who was responsible for providing care, 

without permission.  Accompanying the photo with hashtags like “#byebyeankle” prior to 

amputation is also indicative of a disregard of Keyano’s well-being.  Even if these actions were 

not intended to inflict injury on the Plaintiff, it was likely done in reckless disregard of the effect it 

could have on Plaintiff.  The FAC alleges that as a result of the photo “Plaintiff has suffered and 

continues to suffer extreme mental distress, humiliation, anguish, and emotional” injuries as a 

result of result of Umeyama taking the photograph and posting it to Instagram.  (FAC 6 ¶ 6.)  

Therefore, the demurrer is overruled as to Uyeyama and the second cause of action. 

a. As to Falcon 
 

The FAC states that Falcon was aware of the probability that Keyano would post “graphic 

images of critically injured patients”, and had the power “intervene or prevent said conduct,” yet 

failed to do so.  (FAC 8 ¶ 3.)  It further alleges that Falcon has “done nothing subsequent to the 

acts describ[ed] herein to investigate or remedy” the alleged posting.  (FAC 9 ¶ 1.)   These 

alleged facts indicate a blatant disregard of Plaintiff’s wellbeing and privacy, and could be 

regarded as reckless.  Thus, the demurrer as to the intentional infliction of emotional distress 

claim against Falcon is overruled. 
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C. Cause of Action 3 and 4: Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress, Negligence Per 
Se 

a. As to Uyeyama 
 

Negligent infliction of emotional distress is not an independent tort.  (Zavala v. Arce (1997) 58 

Cal.App.4th 915, 928 (Zavala).)  Rather, it allows certain persons to recover damages for 

emotional distress under a negligence cause of action even though they were not otherwise 

injured or harmed.  (Ibid.)  “The traditional elements of duty, breach of duty, causation, and 

damages apply.”  (Ibid.) 

“‘Direct victim’ cases are cases in which the plaintiff’s claim of emotional distress is not based 

upon witnessing an injury to someone else, but rather is based upon the violation of a duty owed 

directly to the plaintiff.”  (Ragland v. U.S. Bank National Assn. (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 182, 205.)  

“Direct victims” are permitted to recover damages based the negligent breach of a duty arising 

out of a preexisting relationship.”  (Burgess v. Superior Court (1992) 2 Cal.4th 1064, 1076).”   

Here, the Court finds that a duty of care exists between Uyeyama and Plaintiff, who was a 

patient under his care.  (See Burgess v. Superior Court (1992) 2 Cal.4th 1064, 1075 fn. 7 [duty 

existed between health care professionals and patients].)  Furthermore, Plaintiff sufficiently 

alleges that Uyeyama breached that duty by taking a photo of Plaintiff without permission and 

posting it on social media.   

It is Plaintiff’s allegations of damages that puts the distinction between negligent infliction of 

emotional distress and negligence per se at issue.  Plaintiff alleges that he suffered not only 

emotional injuries, but also “physical injuries” and “economic losses” as a result of the accident.  

(FAC 8 ¶ 5.)  If that is the case, then the claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress is 

inapplicable because the purpose of negligent infliction of emotional distress claims is to 

compensate plaintiffs that are not not otherwise injured or harmed.  (See Zavala, supra, 58 

Cal.App.4th at p. 928.)   

However, “[w]hen a pleader is in doubt about what actually occurred or what can be established 

by the evidence, the modern practice allows that party to plead in the alternative and make 

inconsistent allegations.”  (Mendoza v. Continental Sales Co. (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 1395, 

1402.) 

Plaintiff here has the right to plead in the alternative under both theories based on uncertainty as 

to what can be established by the evidence.  Thus, the demurrer is overruled as to negligent 

infliction of emotional distress and negligence cause of action against Uyeyama.  

b. As to Falcon 
 

Plaintiffs have pled sufficient facts to show negligence against Falcon.  The Court finds that a 

duty existed between Falcon and Plaintiff.  (See Cabral v. Ralphs Grocery Co. (2011) 51 Cal.4th 

764, 771 [in general, everyone is responsible for an injury occasioned another by his or want of 

ordinary care or skill in the management of his or her property or person]; see Civ. Code § 

1714(a).)  As to breach, the FAC alleges that Falcon was aware that photo was posted, yet did 
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not take action to intervene and remedy the situation.  These acts are alleged to have caused 

emotional distress, physical injuries, and emotional distress.  Thus, the demurrer as to Falcon’s 

negligence and negligent infliction of emotional distress is overruled. 

D. Cause of Action 5: Negligent Hiring, Retention, and Supervision by Falcon 
 

 “Liability for negligent hiring and supervision is based upon the reasoning that if an enterprise 

hires individuals with characteristics which might pose a danger to customers or other 

employees, the enterprise should bear the loss caused by the wrongdoing of its incompetent or 

unfit employees.”  (Mendoza v. City of Los Angeles (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 1333, 1339–1340.)  

“Negligence liability will be imposed on an employer if it ‘knew or should have known that hiring 

the employee created a particular risk or hazard and that particular harm materializes.’” (Phillips 

v. TLC Plumbing, Inc. (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1133, 1139.)  “To establish negligent supervision, 

a plaintiff must show that a person in a supervisorial position over the actor had prior knowledge 

of the actor’s propensity to do the bad act.”  (Z.V. v. County of Riverside (2015) 238 Cal.App.4th 

889, 902.) 

Plaintiff here states sufficient facts to show negligent hiring, retention, and/or supervision.  

Plaintiff alleges that Falcon was aware of the probability that Uyeyama would post images of 

critically injured patients, but failed to intervene to prevent such conduct, despite having the 

power to do so.  (FAC 8 ¶ 3.)  It is unclear whether Falcon’s alleged knowledge of Uyeyama’s 

propensity arose prior to hiring him, but regardless, the cause of action stands.  At the very 

least, Falcon is alleged to have negligently supervised Uyeyama because Falcon had the 

requisite knowledge and the power to stop Uyeyama’s acts prior to their occurrence.  Thus, the 

demurrer as to the fifth cause of action is overruled. 

  

 32.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01983 
CASE NAME: FIEL VS. VALCON CRITICAL CARE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE FIRST AMENDED COMPLT FILED BY 
FALCON CRITICAL CARE TRANSPORT, JACOB UYEYAMA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
“Punitive damages are only appropriate “where it is proven by clear and convincing evidence 

that the defendant has been guilty of oppression, fraud, or malice.”  (Civ. Code § 3294(a).)  

“‘Malice’ means conduct which is intended by the defendant to cause injury to the plaintiff or 

despicable conduct which is carried on by the defendant with a willful and conscious disregard 

of the rights or safety of others.”  (Id. at subd. (c)(1).)  “‘Oppression’ means despicable conduct 

that subjects a person to cruel and unjust hardship in conscious disregard of that person’s 

rights.”  (Id. at subd. (c)(2).) 

 

Plaintiff has pled facts that, when taken as true, demonstrate malice on the part of Uyeyama.  

The FAC states that the “posts were made at a time when UYEYAMA was task[ed] with 

delivering life-saving care to KEYANO but was instead actively failing to deliver such care and 
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was taking numerous photos of the KEYANO’s injuries, uploading them to UYEYAMA’s social 

media account, applying numerous hashtags specific to the injury and to KEYANO, and then 

posting them online.”  (FAC 5 ¶ 3.)  These facts constitute conduct that consciously disregarded 

Plaintiff’s right to privacy, subjecting him to embarrassment and hardship.   

Punitive damages against Falcon apply only of it is responsible for Uyeyama’s actions as its 

employee.  “An employer shall not be liable for [punitive] damages . . . unless the employer had 

advance knowledge of the unfitness of the employee and employed him or her with a conscious 

disregard of the rights or safety of others or authorized or ratified the wrongful conduct for which 

the damages are awarded or was personally guilty of oppression, fraud, or malice.”  (Civ. Code 

§ 3294(b).) 

Here, Plaintiff also alleges sufficient facts to constitute a claim for punitive damages against 

Falcon.  The FAC states that each of the Defendants “had the power, ability, authority, and duty 

to stop engaging in the conduct described herein and/or to intervene to prevent or prohibit said 

conduct.”  (FAC 8 ¶ 3.)  If it is true that Falcon had the ability to stop Uyeyama from engaging 

the conduct in question, then it had advanced knowledge Uyeyama’s unfitness and did nothing.  

The FAC further states that Falcon failed to take action despite knowledge that the post existed, 

which could constitute a ratification of Uyeyama’s acts considering that Falcon’s name was 

included in the post.  (FAC 8 ¶ 3.)   

A. Code of Civil Procedure 425.13 
 

Defendants further argue that the motion to strike the punitive damage must be granted under 

Code of Civil Procedure, section 425.13 because Plaintiff’s injury arose out of actions that were 

directly related to the manner in which professional services were rendered.  “In any action for 

damages arising out of the professional negligence of a health care provider, no claim for 

punitive damages shall be included in a complaint or other pleading unless the court enters an 

order allowing an amended pleading that includes a claim for punitive damages to be filed.”  

(CCP § 425.13.)  “The allegations that identify the nature and cause of a plaintiff’s injury must be 

examined to determine whether each is directly related to the manner in which professional 

services were provided.”  (Central Pathology Service Medical Clinic, Inc. v. Superior Court 

(1992) 3 Cal.4th 181, 192.)   

The Court is not convinced by Defendant’s argument.  Uyeyama’s conduct, as alleged by 

Plaintiffs, was extraneous to his role as an EMT.  There is no indication that part of Uyeyama’s 

job was to post “public safety” announcements through social media -- if the post in question 

could even be considered as such.  Moreover, the disclosure of serious injuries, without consent 

is not directly related to professional services properly rendered by an EMT, and is actually 

contrary to their role.  Thus, the motion to strike Plaintiff’s claim for punitive damages is denied. 

 

33.  TIME:  9:02   CASE#: MSC15-01451 
CASE NAME: ARMSTRONG VS. DALY 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR COMPEL ATTENDANCE OF DEFENDANT AT 
DEPOSITION FILED BY NYNA ARMSTRONG 
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* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

34.  TIME:  9:03   CASE#: MSC16-01045 
CASE NAME: DEBENEDETTI VS. DEBENEDETTI 
HEARING ON DEFT’S EX PARTE APP TO CONT 9/21/17 SJ MOTION SET BY DEPT. 9 [ER 
EX PARTE APPEARANCE 
 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 

 


